2009

Migual Carranza and Amelia Sanchez v. United States : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78A-3-102(1).

QUESTION OF LAW CERTIFIED TO UTAH SUPREME COURT

Does Utah's wrongful death statute allow an action for the wrongful death of an unborn child?

Standard of Review: On certification from federal district court, the Utah Supreme Court's duty is to answer the legal question presented. The Court will not seek to resolve the underlying dispute. Spackman v. Board of Educ. Of the Box Elder County Sch. Dist., 2000 UT 87.

CONTROLLING STATUTORY PROVISIONS

§ 31A-22-627. Coverage of emergency medical services

- (1) A health insurance policy or health maintenance organization contract may not:
 - (a) require any form of preauthorization for treatment of an emergency medical condition until after the insured's condition has been stabilized; or
 - (b) deny a claim for any covered evaluation, covered diagnostic test, or other covered treatment considered medically necessary to stabilize the emergency medical condition of an insured.
- (2) A health insurance policy or health maintenance organization contract may require authorization for the continued treatment of an emergency medical condition after the insured's condition has been stabilized. If such authorization is required, an insurer who does not accept or reject a request for authorization may not deny a claim for any evaluation, diagnostic

testing, or other treatment considered medically necessary that occurred between the time the request was received and the time the insurer rejected the request for authorization.

(3) For purposes of this section:

(a) "emergency medical condition" means a medical condition manifesting itself by acute symptoms of sufficient severity, including severe pain, such that a prudent layperson, who possesses an average knowledge of medicine and health, would reasonably expect the absence of immediate medical attention at a hospital emergency department to result in:

(I) placing the insured's health, or with respect to a pregnant woman, the health of the woman or her unborn child, in serious jeopardy;

(ii) serious impairment to bodily functions; or

(iii) serious dysfunction of any bodily organ or part; and

(b) "hospital emergency department" means that area of a hospital in which emergency services are provided on a 24-hour-a-day basis.

(4) Nothing in this section may be construed as:

(a) altering the level or type of benefits that are provided under the terms of a contract or policy; or

(b) restricting a policy or contract from providing enhanced benefits for certain emergency medical conditions that are identified in the policy or contract.

Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-627(3)(a)(I)

§ 76-5-201. Criminal homicide -- Elements -- Designations of offenses

(a) A person commits criminal homicide if he intentionally, knowingly, recklessly, with criminal negligence, or acting with a mental state otherwise specified in the statute defining the offense, causes the death of another human being, including an unborn child at any stage of its development.

(b) There shall be no cause of action for criminal homicide for the death of an unborn child caused by an abortion.

Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-201(1)

§ 76-7-301.1. Preamble -- Findings and policies of Legislature

(1) It is the finding and policy of the legislature, reflecting and reasserting the provisions of Article I, Sections 1 and 7, Utah Constitution, which recognize that life founded on inherent and inalienable rights is entitled to protection of law and due process; and that unborn children have inherent and inalienable rights that are entitled to protection by the state of Utah pursuant to the provisions of the Utah Constitution.

Utah Code Ann. § 76-7-301.1

§ 75-7-303. Representation by fiduciaries and parents

To the extent there is no conflict of interest between the representative and the person represented or among those being represented with respect to a particular question or dispute:

- (1) a conservator may represent and bind the protected person whose estate the conservator controls;
- (2) a guardian may represent and bind the ward if a conservator of the ward's estate has not been appointed;
- (3) an agent having authority to act with respect to the particular question or dispute may represent and bind the principal;
- (4) a trustee may represent and bind the beneficiaries of the trust;
- (5) a personal representative of a decedent's estate may represent and bind persons interested in the estate; and
- (6) a parent may represent and bind the parent's minor or unborn child if a conservator or guardian for the child has not been appointed.

Utah Code Ann. § 75-7-303(6)

§ 78-11-6. Injury or death of child -- Suit by parent or guardian

Except as provided in Title 34A, Chapter 2, Workers' Compensation Act, a

parent or guardian may maintain an action for the death or injury of a minor child when the injury or death is caused by the wrongful act or neglect of another. Any civil action may be maintained against the person causing the injury or death or, if the person is employed by another person who is responsible for that person's conduct, also against the employer. If a parent, stepparent, adoptive parent, or legal guardian is the alleged defendant in an action for the death or injury of a child, a guardian ad litem may be appointed for the injured child or a child other than the deceased child according to the procedures outlined in Section 78-7-9.

Utah Code Ann. § 78B-3-102 (Previously Utah Code Ann. § 78-11-6)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs allege that as a result of medical negligence committed in the State of Utah, their full term baby boy was stillborn. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 1346(b)(1), the law and place of the negligence applies to all substantive issues in case. Therefore, the law of Utah applies.

Plaintiffs argue that their child died because he was post mature, meaning the baby was alive up to and beyond the time that he reached full term. Plaintiffs allege that Defendant breached the applicable standards of care setting forth reasonable precautions and measures required by the facts of this case.

Plaintiffs evoked Utah's wrongful death statute as set forth in Utah Code Ann. § 78-11-6 in bringing their claim. Plaintiffs requested non-economic damages for the

wrongful death of their child.

Defendant filed its Motion in Limine and requested that “any evidence concerning damages for the wrongful death of their unborn child is inadmissible at trial because none of these damages are cognizable Utah law.” Defendant’s Motion in Limine (Doc. 21), Carranza v. United States, Case No. 2:07cv00291, United States District Court, District of Utah at 1-2. Defendant further argued in its supporting memorandum that “an unborn fetus is not a ‘minor child’ under Utah law and Plaintiffs are not entitled to damages for the wrongful death of their unborn child.” Defendant’s Memorandum in Support of Motion in Limine (Doc. 22 at 3).

Plaintiffs filed their Motion to Certify Question of Law to the Supreme Court. (Doc. 26). This motion was granted by Judge Dale A. Kimball in his Memorandum Decision and Order Certifying Question to Utah Supreme Court. (Doc. 31).

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

1. On or about April 14, 2006, Plaintiff Sanchez, nine months pregnant, had an appointment with Dr. George Delaney at the Mountainlands Community Health Center (“MCHC”), located in Provo, Utah. (Doc. 2 at 3).

2. Plaintiff Sanchez had experienced various complications and was subjected to various risks during this pregnancy that concerned her and that should have elicited a

higher standard of care from her treating physicians at MCHC. Id.

3. Treatment notes indicate that the treating physicians at MCHC were aware that Sanchez had suffered from preeclampsia during her first two pregnancies and they suspected that she may have had preeclampsia in this pregnancy. Plaintiff was 39 years old at the time of this pregnancy and as such, her pregnancy was considered a high risk pregnancy which elicits a higher standard of care and caution. Id.

4. Additionally, an ultrasound performed by Dr. Donna S. Dizon-Townson, MD, on February 28, 2006, revealed that the baby may have had an ailment referred to as “double bubble” in the abdomen which raised concerns of a possibility of duodenal atresia and the potential for Down’s Syndrome. In her report, Dr. Dizon-Townson stated that during prolonged observation of the fetus on ultrasound, she felt the “double bubble” had resolved and the stomach appeared to be within normal limits but that it was possible that the baby may have had pyloric stenosis or a partial obstruction with intermittent resolution. Id. at 3-4.

5. Additionally Dr. Dizon-Townson counseled Plaintiff Sanchez that the child was at an increased risk for genetic aneuploidy based on her advanced maternal age, abnormal serum marker screen, and an abnormal ultrasound. Id. at 4.

6. Plaintiff Sanchez was concerned about the baby’s heart rate and expressed

these concerns to Dr. Delaney at the time of her April 14, 2006 visit. A few weeks before her April 14, 2006 visit with Dr. Delaney, Plaintiff Sanchez had an appointment with Monica Sanchez, APRN, of MCHC, where Monica Sanchez, APRN, told Plaintiff that her baby's heartbeat sounded a little weak. Plaintiff Sanchez and her husband, Plaintiff Carranza, asked Monica Sanchez, APRN, why the heartbeat sounded weak. Ms. Sanchez told them that it was due to the positioning of the baby in the womb. On Plaintiff's April 14, 2006 visit, Dr. Delaney told Plaintiff that the heart rate remained low, but was normal at this phase of the pregnancy and that Plaintiff Sanchez had nothing to be concerned about. Id.

7. At this April 14, 2006 appointment with Defendant Delaney, Plaintiff Sanchez expressed concerned about the fact that she had already lost her mucus plug and that she was experiencing erratic, heavy vaginal bleeding and erratic, strong contractions. Id.

8. At the time of the appointment, Plaintiff Sanchez told Dr. Delaney that, based on her experience with the delivery of her first two children and her need to be induced with those deliveries, she felt the loss of her mucus plug, the bleeding, the irregular contractions, the presence of a reduced heart rate, and the fact that she was only one day short of being forty weeks pregnant, were all signs that it was time for her to be

induced. Id. at 4-5.

9. Plaintiff Sanchez requested that she be induced immediately. Id. at 5.

10. Despite the numerous indicators that Plaintiff Sanchez should be admitted to the hospital for induction, including the loss of her mucus plug, the erratic and heavy bleeding, the erratic and strong contractions, the fact that she was forty weeks pregnant, the fact that she was thirty-nine years old, her concern over her baby's weak heartbeat, as well as her experience in her first two pregnancies where she had to be induced, Dr. Delaney negligently told Plaintiff Sanchez that if it were actually time for her to have the baby that she would hurt much more than she did at that time and that her contractions would be more regular. Id.

11. Sanchez again informed Dr. Delaney that her contractions are never regular at the time of her deliveries and that she was in fact quite uncomfortable at this time. Id.

12. Dr. Delaney assured Sanchez that her baby was very strong and that she should not worry. Dr. Delaney negligently ignored Sanchez's request to be induced and the other above described indicators that she and her unborn child were in distress and instead sent Plaintiff Sanchez home without performing a stress test or satisfying Sanchez's concerns. Id.

14. Dr. Delaney negligently set another appointment for Sanchez ten day later,

which would have been a week and half past her due date. Id. at 5-6.

15. On April 19, 2006, Sanchez continued to feel strong erratic contractions. Plaintiff Sanchez checked into Utah Valley Regional Medical Center located in Provo, Utah. She arrived on April 19, 2006 at 10:30 a.m., at which time she received an ultrasound; no heartbeats were found and the baby was diagnosed as deceased. Id. at 6.

16. Dr. Vernon White of MCHC was Sanchez's attending physician and advised that the baby be delivered normally, without the aid of a medical induction. Id.

17. When Sanchez was unable to give birth for many hours and after suffering the physical and emotional pain associated with a prolonged delivery and the knowledge that her child was already dead, Plaintiff Sanchez prevailed upon Defendants to medically induce the labor. Id.

18. The child did not show signs of Down's Syndrome or other defects and was otherwise healthy and viable. Id.

19. Plaintiffs filed suit on May 3, 2007.

20. Following some discovery Defendant's filed their Motion and Memorandum in Limine to Exclude from Trial all Evidence Regarding Plaintiffs' damages for Wrongful Death on April 2, 2009. Doc. 21.

21. On May 14, 2009, Judge Dale A. Kimball of the Utah District Court issued

his Memorandum Decision and Order Certifying Question to Utah Supreme Court. (Doc. 31.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Based on the Utah legislature’s explicit and implicit commitment to protecting unborn children, Utah’s wrongful death statute can most reasonably be interpreted to allow for a cause of action for the wrongful death of an unborn child.

ARGUMENT

The dispute between the parties in this case focuses on the meaning of the term “minor child” in Utah’s wrongful death statute codified in Utah Code Ann. § 78-11-6. The statute does not define the term “minor child” and there is no provision excluding an unborn child from the definition of “minor child.” The statute is therefore ambiguous. While the statute is ambiguous, the legislature’s intent to protect the unborn is clear. Given the Utah legislature’s stated commitment to protecting unborn children, the term “minor child” should be interpreted to encompass a unborn child.

- A. The legislature’s use of the term “minor child” in Utah Code Ann. § 78-11-6 is ambiguous and therefore the Court may properly consider relevant policy considerations in determining the intent of the legislature.**

The Utah Supreme Court has held that “a statute is ambiguous ‘if the terms used . .

. may be understood to have two or more plausible meanings.” R&R Industrial Park, L.L.C. v. The Utah Property and Casualty Insurance Guaranty Assoc. 199 P.3d 917, 923 (Utah 2008) (internal citations omitted). Once a statute is deemed to be ambiguous the court may then “use extrinsic interpretive tools such as policy and legislative intent to guide [its] analysis.” Id.

Here, the term “minor child” is ambiguous because it can plausibly be understood to include unborn children, especially because the term is not defined by the legislature and where there is no provision excluding an unborn child from the definition of “minor child.”

B. The Utah legislature has explicitly demonstrated its commitment to protect the unborn.

The Utah legislature has explicitly and clearly demonstrated its commitment to protecting unborn children. In the preamble to the criminal code’s abortion provisions, the legislature states that “the state of Utah has a compelling interest in the protection of the lives of unborn children,” and “[i]t is the intent of the legislature to protect and guarantee to unborn children their inherent and inalienable right to life as required by Article I, Sections 1 and 7, Utah Constitution.” Utah Code Ann. § 76-7-301.1(2) and (3).

Defendant argues that if the legislature had intended for plaintiffs to be able to

recover damages for the wrongful death of unborn children then it would have used the words “unborn child” in the wrongful death statute. *See Defendant’s Memorandum in Support of Motion in Limine* (Doc. 22) at 4-5. Defendant then cites to other parts of the code where the legislature has used the term “unborn child” to show that when the legislature wants to protect unborn children it uses the precise words to do so. *Id.*

For example, under Utah’s probate code, “a parent may represent and bind the parent’s unborn child if a conservator or guardian for the child has not been appointed.” Utah Code Ann. § 75-7-303(6). Likewise, under Utah Code Annotated § 31A-22-627(3)(a)(I), an emergency medical condition” is defined as “placing the insured’s health or, with respect to a pregnant woman, the health of the woman or her unborn child, in serious jeopardy.”

Plaintiff interprets these statutes as further evidence of the legislature’s commitment to protect the unborn. These measures each seek to protect the rights of the unborn child. In the probate code, unborn children are enabled to be represented in a probate proceeding, while Utah Code Annotated § 31A-22-627(3)(a)(I) provides assistance to unborn children with respect to access to emergency medical care.

The legislature is expansive and liberal in granting protections and rights to the unborn rather than being restrictive. Therefore a narrow interpretation of Utah Code Ann.

§ 78-11-6 which would lessen protection of the unborn would be incompatible with the legislature's stated commitment to policies protecting the unborn.

C. The legislature is committed to holding individuals responsible for harming the unborn.

Under Utah's criminal code, a person commits "criminal homicide if he intentionally, knowingly, recklessly, with criminal negligence, or acting with a mental state otherwise specified in the statute, causes the death of another human being, including an unborn child at any stage of its development." Utah Code Ann. §76-5-201(1).

If the legislature intended to hold individuals criminally responsible for the death of an unborn child, then it would logically and morally follow that the legislature also intends to hold individuals civilly responsible when their negligent actions cause the death of an unborn child.

While the legislature has at times used the term "unborn child" to add clarity with respect to who is affected by certain laws, it does not logically or morally follow that failure to do so necessarily means unborn children are not to be protected. This is particularly true when the legislature has affirmatively stated a duty to protect the unborn. While the legislature has a duty to be clear in its usage of words it is not uncommon for

many people, including legislators to consider of fully developed or viable unborn babies as children or persons.

D. Finding that Utah Code Ann. § 78-11-6 allows a claim for the wrongful death of an unborn child would not violate the principle of state decisis.

Although there is no Utah case that has decided whether a wrongful death claim may be made for the death of an unborn child under § 78-11-6 since it was amended in 2003 to include the phrase “minor child”, there are older cases which have addressed the subject generally. Plaintiffs assert that a review of these cases shows that the Court is clearly not bound by these prior decisions and seems to be moving towards the national majority position which allows such claims to be made.

The first Utah case to address this issue is Webb v. Snow, 132 P.2d 114 (Utah 1942). In Webb, the plaintiff brought an action for assault and battery that resulted in a miscarriage. The Utah Supreme Court held that:

While injuries resulting in a miscarriage are actionable, and compensation may be awarded for the physical and mental sufferings by a woman who has a miscarriage by reason of injuries caused by the wrongful acts of others, damages are not awarded for “loss of the unborn child” itself.

Id. at 119 (Utah 1942).

Thirty-three years after Webb, the Utah Supreme Court decided Nelson v. Peterson, 542 P.2d 1075 (Utah 1975). In Nelson, the Court upheld the holding in Webb

that the plaintiff was not entitled to seek damages for the wrongful death of her unborn child. Id. at 1077.

However, the Court in Nelson then allowed the plaintiff to introduce evidence of the mother's "mental suffering experienced by a woman undergoing such an experience." Id. Similarly, the court in Nelson allowed the defendant to introduce evidence that the deceased child was illegitimate and that the plaintiff was a welfare recipient even though the trial court had granted plaintiff's pre-trial motion to bar defendant from doing. Id.

When a defense witness testified that the deceased child was illegitimate and that the plaintiff was a welfare recipient the trial court justified its refusal to grant plaintiff's request for a mistrial as follows:

She is here claiming great mental anguish because of the loss of the child. I think the fact that it was an illegitimate child might very well have a bearing upon that very thing. Id. At 1077.

The Utah Supreme Court in Nelson concluded that "the jury was entitled to know all the circumstances if they were fairly to appraise the quantum of mental anguish which [the mother] suffered" including the fact that the mother had seven other children and the fact that the child was illegitimate. *See Id.*

In summary, the Court in Nelson holds that a wrongful death claim may not be made for an unborn child but then allows evidence into trial that is essentially impossible

to differentiate from the type of evidence normally presented in wrongful death cases.

Specifically, the jury in Nelson was allowed to consider evidence that the mother plaintiff may have been less entitled for recovery for the loss of her child because she had a lot of children already, was unmarried, and poor; meaning, impliedly, that her emotional loss would be less than a married affluent woman who had no other children.

The Court in Nelson held that when trying to fairly appraise the amount of mental anguish suffered by a Plaintiff who loses an unborn child, “the jury is entitled to know all the circumstances.” (Emphasis added.) Id. at 1077.

Again, the decision in Nelson is self-contradictory in that it held that there could be no claim for the wrongful death of an unborn child but then the Court allowed extensive wrongful death-type evidence to be introduced.

The Nelson decision was decided by a four to one vote with Justice Maughan authoring a compelling dissent:

. . . we would not do an injustice to stare decisis for the reason that the concept advanced by [Webb v. Snow] is no longer a part of the weight of authority in this country. Additionally, I see no moral, biological, or legal rationale for sustaining an outmoded, dry, rule laced with the fictions of a bygone era.

Nelson, at 1079.

Justice Maughan’s dissent in 1975 is even more accurate today as at least 36 states

recognize the right of heirs to make a wrongful death claim for an unborn child. *See* Wrongful Death and the Legal Status of the Previabie Embryo: Why Illinois is on the Cutting Edge of Determining a Definitive Standard for Embryonic Legal Rights, 19 Regent U.L. Rev. 251, footnotes, 40, 41, and 42 and Primer on Legal Recognition & Protection of Unborn & Newly Born, Defending Life 2009, available at <http://dl.aul.org/ubvv/primer-on-legal-recognition- and-protection-of-the-unborn-and-newly-born>, (copies attached).

The most recent Utah case discussing a possible wrongful death claim for an unborn child is State Farm v. Clyde, 920 P.2d 1183 (1996). In Clyde, Mr. and Mrs. Clyde's minor daughter was killed in an automobile accident. The minor daughter was pregnant at the time of the accident and her unborn child also died. The primary issue before the Court in Clyde was whether the grandparents had standing to make a wrongful death claim for the unborn child. The Court held that under Utah Code Ann. § 78-11-6, the Clydes, as grandparents, did not have standing to make a wrongful death claim on behalf of the unborn child. *Id.* at 1186. In making this finding the Court noted:

Because we conclude that the Clydes do not have standing to maintain an action for the wrongful death of their unborn grandchild, we need not decide the more general question of whether the death of a fetus can ever provide the basis for maintaining an action under section 78-11-6.

Id. at n. 4.

Based on this language, the Utah Supreme Court in Clyde considers the question of whether the death of an unborn child may be the basis of a claim under Utah Code Ann. § 78-11-6 to be unresolved. Had the Supreme Court taken the position that the death of an unborn child could never be the basis for a claim under Utah Code Ann. § 78-11-6 it could have easily resolved the case before it in that way.

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