2009

Miguel Carranza Amelia Sanchez v. United States : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Utah's wrongful death statute created a cause of action that did not exist under the common law. Beginning in the late 1800s, the wrongful death statute provided that a parent or guardian could sue for the wrongful death of a "minor child." The plain language of the statute permits a cause of action only for the death of a child who has been born, not for an unborn child. This interpretation of the statute is supported by the Utah Legislature's use of the terms "unborn child" or "unborn individual" when it intends to include an unborn child in a statute's coverage. This interpretation is further supported by the fact that the Legislature has not amended the statute to include unborn children despite the fact that this Court has twice rejected claims for the wrongful deaths of unborn children.

ARGUMENT

I. Legal Framework

A. Federal Tort Claims Act

The Federal Tort Claims Act (“FTCA”) is a limited waiver of the United States’ sovereign immunity. U.S. v. Orleans, 425 U.S. 807, 813 (1976). Under the FTCA, the United States is liable in tort claims to the same extent that a private person would be liable under the law of the state where the alleged tortious activity occurred. 28 U.S.C. §§ 1346(b), 2674 (2006); Franklin v. United States, 992 F.2d 1492, 1495 (10th Cir. 1993). Employees of federally supported community health centers, such as the Mountainlands Community Health Center, are deemed to be employees of the United States for purposes of liability under the FTCA. 42 U.S.C. § 233(a), (g) (2006). Thus, the liability of the United States in the present case is defined by Utah law governing wrongful death claims.

B. Utah’s Wrongful Death Statute

Since the common law recognized no claim for wrongful death, Plaintiffs’ claim derives solely from the wrongful death statute. Behrens v. Raleigh Hills Hospital, Inc., 675 P.2d 1179, 1183 (Utah 1983). Utah’s wrongful death statute, like those of most other states, was patterned after Lord Campbell’s Act, which

was enacted in England in 1846. Id. Utah’s first wrongful death statute was enacted by the Territorial Legislature in 1874. Id. at 1184.

Beginning no later than 1898, Utah’s wrongful death statute provided that a parent could sue for the wrongful death of a “minor child.” See Utah Rev. Stat. § 2911 (1898) (addendum at A-18). The Legislature amended the statute numerous times thereafter, but retained the term “minor child.” See Compiler’s Notes, UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-11-6 (1977 Repl.) [hereinafter “1977 Compiler’s Notes”] (addendum at A-20). The statute did not define “minor child.”

In 2009, the Utah Legislature amended the wrongful death statute in House Bill 329, which “provides that wrongful death claims of children will be handled in the same manner as the wrongful death claims of adults.” See H.B. 329, Utah Code, 2009 Advance Legislative Service, ch. 79 (amending Utah Code sections 78B-3-102 and -106) (addendum at A-22). The legislation consolidated wrongful death claims for both children and adults into a single section that provides for a claim “when the death of a person is caused by the wrongful act or neglect of another.” UTAH CODE ANN. § 78B-3-106(1) (Supp. 2009).

C. Statutory Construction

The question before the Court requires an analysis of what the Legislature intended when it created a cause of action for the wrongful death of a “minor

child.” “When interpreting statutes, we look first to the statute’s plain language with the primary objective of giving effect to the legislature’s intent.” Martinez v. Media-Paymaster Plus, 2007 UT 42, ¶ 46, 164 P.3d 384. The Court will “give effect to the plain language unless the language is ambiguous,” Blackner v. State Dep’t of Transportation, 2002 UT 44, ¶ 12, 48 P.3d 949, or “unless such a reading is unreasonably confused, inoperable, or in blatant contravention of the express purpose of the statute,” Perrine v. Kennecott Mining Corp., 911 P.2d 1290, 1292 (Utah 1996). The Court “‘presume[s] that the legislature used each word advisedly [and reads] each term according to its ordinary and accepted meaning.’” Martinez, 2007 UT 42, ¶ 46 (citation omitted). Moreover, “[s]tatutes should be read as a whole and their provisions interpreted in harmony with related provisions and statutes.” Id. When the statutory language is clear, the Court will “refuse to consider public policy arguments or otherwise attempt to assess the wisdom of the legislation.” Stephens v. Bonneville Travel, Inc., 935 P.2d 518, 522 (Utah 1997).

II. The plain language of Utah’s wrongful death statute does not create a cause of action for the wrongful death of an unborn child.

The definition of “child” includes both the living and the unborn. See, e.g., Webster’s Third New International Dictionary 388 (2002) (“1a: an unborn or

recently born human being: fetus, infant, baby . . . 2a: a young person of either sex esp. between infancy and youth”); Random House Webster’s College Dictionary 229 (2d ed. 1999) (“1. a person between birth and full growth; a young boy or girl. 2. a son or daughter. 3. a baby or infant. 4. a human fetus. . . .”); Black’s Law Dictionary 254 (8th ed. 2004) (“1. a person under the age of majority. . . . 3. A boy or girl; a young person. 4. A son or daughter. . . . 5. A baby or fetus. . . .”). However, the Utah Legislature did not establish a cause of action for the wrongful death of a “child,” but rather for a “minor child.” A “minor” child is one “having the status of a legal minor not having reached the age of majority or full legal age” Webster’s Third New International Dictionary 1439; see also Random House Webster’s College Dictionary 843 (“a person under full legal age”); Black’s Law Dictionary 1017 (“A person who has not reached full legal age; a child or juvenile.”). “The period of minority extends in males and females to the age of eighteen years” UTAH CODE ANN. § 15-2-1 (2009 Repl.).

Thus, a “minor” child is defined by the child’s age. Age is measured with reference to the date of live birth, not the date of conception or fetal viability. Webster’s Third New International Dictionary 40 (“age” is “the length of time during which a being or thing has lived or existed: the length of life or existence from birth or beginning to the time spoken of or referred to”); Random House

Webster's College Dictionary 24 ("age" is "a period of human life, measured by years from birth . . ."). See also Fuenmayor v. United States, 626 F. Supp. 2d 1222, 1224 (D. Utah 2009) ("Based on the plain language of the [Utah wrongful death] statute, presuming that the legislature used each word deliberately and purposively, the term 'minor child' does not encompass unborn children, and therefore appears to preclude wrongful death claims based on the death of unborn children."); Alternative Options and Services for Children v. Chapman, 2004 UT App 488, ¶ 34 n.8, 106 P.3d 744 (noting that the definition of "child" in UTAH CODE ANN. § 62A-4a-701 "does not specifically include unborn children. Moreover, children in utero are not customarily referred to as minors . . .") (emphasis added)); Alma Evans Trucking v. Roach, 714 P.2d 1147, 1148 (Utah 1986) (holding that worker's compensation death benefits were not payable prior to the birth of a posthumous child: "We believe that the legislature used the word 'child' in its ordinary and usual sense, viz., a child which has been born. . . . Until the child is born, it is usually referred to as a child in utero or a fetus. While the legislature had the power to award benefits to a child in utero, it clearly did not do so.").

The wrongful death statute establishes a cause of action only for the wrongful death of a "minor child." This is an unambiguous reference to a child

born alive, who has achieved an age between birth and the age of majority. Since the plain language of the statute does not include an unborn child, Utah law does not permit a claim arising from the death of a fetus.

III. When the Utah Legislature intends that a statute cover an unborn child, it includes “unborn” in the statutory language.

The Legislature uses the modifier “unborn” when it intends to include an unborn child in statutory provisions. In the Probate Code, for example, “a parent may represent and bind the parent’s minor or unborn child if a conservator or guardian for the child has not been appointed.” UTAH CODE ANN. § 75-7-303(6) (Supp. 2009) (emphasis added). “Unless otherwise represented, a minor, incapacitated, or unborn individual . . . may be represented by and bound by another” UTAH CODE ANN. § 75-7-304 (Supp. 2009) (emphasis added). The Legislature used similarly explicit language in the Criminal Code: “A person commits criminal homicide if he intentionally, knowingly, recklessly, with criminal negligence, or acting with a mental state otherwise specified in the statute defining the offense, causes the death of another human being, including an unborn child at any stage of its development.” UTAH CODE ANN. § 76-5-201(1)(a) (2008 Repl.) (emphasis added). The Legislature also distinguished between “children” and an “unborn child” in the Cohabitant Abuse Act: “‘Cohabitant’

means an emancipated person pursuant to Section 15-2-1 or a person who is 16 years of age or older who: . . . (d) has one or more children in common with the other party; [or] (e) is the biological parent of the other party's unborn child;” UTAH CODE ANN. § 78B-7-102(2) (2008 Repl.) (emphasis added).

Thus, when the Utah Legislature intends that a statute cover both living and unborn children, it does so by referring to an “unborn child” or “unborn individual.” This corroborates the conclusion that “minor child” in the wrongful death statute refers only to a child who has been born alive, not an unborn fetus. See Fuenmayor, 626 F. Supp. 2d at 1226 (“[T]he Utah legislature has demonstrated a consistent practice of distinguishing between a ‘minor child’ and an ‘unborn child.’ [footnote omitted] In light of these considerations, the legislature’s use of the term ‘minor child’ unambiguously refers to children born alive”).

IV. The Legislature also demonstrated its intent by retaining the term “minor child” in the wrongful death statute even after this Court had rejected claims based on the alleged wrongful deaths of unborn children.

As discussed above, Utah’s wrongful death statute created a cause of action arising from the death of a “minor child” beginning in the late 1800s. This Court first addressed the availability of a claim for the death of a fetus in 1942. In Webb

v. Snow, 132 P.2d 114 (Utah 1942), the plaintiff alleged that she suffered both personal injuries and a miscarriage as a result of an assault and battery. The jury rendered a verdict in the plaintiff's favor and awarded her the full amount of damages she claimed. Id. at 116. On appeal, the defendants asserted several errors, including the trial court's instruction that the jury could award damages not only for the plaintiff's own injuries but also "for the loss of her unborn child as a result of said miscarriage." Id. at 118. This Court agreed that the challenged instruction was improper:

While injuries resulting in a miscarriage are actionable, and compensation may be awarded for the physical and mental sufferings experienced by a woman who has a miscarriage by reason of injuries caused by the wrongful acts of others, damages are not awarded for "loss of the unborn child" itself. There is no basis for the part of the instruction given by the court.

Id. at 119 (emphasis added; citations omitted).

One year after the Webb decision, the Utah Legislature amended the wrongful death statute but continued to use the term "minor child." See 1977 Compiler's Notes (addendum at A-20). The Legislature again amended the statute in 1951, and again retained the term "minor child." Id. This is significant because legislators are presumed to enact legislation with knowledge of prior judicial interpretations of the law. Cannon v. Univ. of Chicago, 441 U.S. 677, 696-97

(1979); Greenhalgh v. Payson City, 530 P.2d 799, 800-01 (Utah 1975). Thus, the Utah Legislature is presumed to have been aware of the Webb decision when it amended the wrongful death statute, yet the Legislature retained the term “minor child” in each amendment.

The Court next addressed the issue in 1975. In Nelson v. Peterson, 542 P.2d 1075 (Utah 1975), the plaintiff brought an action for the wrongful death of her full-term fetus, which she claimed was stillborn due to the defendants’ negligence in managing her labor. The plaintiff appealed from an adverse jury verdict and argued, among other things, that the trial court had erred in refusing to permit her to proceed at trial with her wrongful death claim. This Court affirmed the verdict: “The third assignment of error is without merit and was decided to be so in the case of *Webb v. Snow*.” Id. at 1077. The Court quoted the statement from Webb that “*damages are not awarded for ‘loss of the unborn child’ itself.*” Id. (alteration in original). Two years after the Nelson decision, the Legislature again amended the wrongful death statute and retained the term “minor child.” See 1977 Compiler’s Notes.

Since the Legislature is presumed to be aware of judicial interpretations of statutes, its retention of the term “minor child” in numerous amendments that were

enacted after this Court's decisions reflects an intent not to include in the wrongful death statute a claim based on the death of an unborn child.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed above, the United States requests that the Court answer the question of law certified by the United States District Court as follows:

Utah's wrongful death statute does not create a cause of action for the wrongful death of an unborn child.